FILED SEP 19 2017 WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

FILED 9/13/2017 3:57 PM **Court of Appeals** Division I **State of Washington**

Supreme Court No.:

Court of Appeals No.: 73727-9-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN RE THE DETENTION OF PATRICK MCGAFFEE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATHLEEN A. SHEA Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND THE DECISION BELOW

Patrick McGaffee requests this Court grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division One, in *In re Detention of Patrick McGaffee*, No. 73727-9-I, filed August 14, 2017. A copy of the opinion is attached in an appendix.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. <u>Frye</u> excludes scientific evidence shown to be either not capable of reliable results or not generally accepted in the relevant expert community. Where the evidence at the <u>Frye</u> hearing revealed no peer-reviewed scientific publication recommended the SRA-FV be used in the way the State's expert had, and that the instrument lacks construct validity, suffers from poor inter-rater reliability, and has yet to be cross-validated on any modern population, should this Court grant review where the trial court erred in refusing to exclude the SRA-FV, or its use to select a Static-99R reference group, under <u>Frye</u>? RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- 2. The "more likely than not" RCW 71.09 commitment standard requires the State to prove that an individual's risk of reoffending exceeds 50%. This is a question of absolute, not relative, risk. Should this Court grant review where the trial court erred in allowing the State's expert to

¹ State v. Brooks, 145 Wn.2d 275, 295, 36 P.3d 1034 (2001), overruled on other grounds by In re Det. of Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P.3d 708 (2003).

testify he believed McGaffee's risk of reoffense is greater than that of 94% detected sex offenders, when that irrelevant information confused the issue at hand and inflamed the passions of the jury? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

- 3. The constitutional right to present a defense includes the right to call witnesses in one's own behalf, including expert witnesses. Should this Court grant review where the trial court violated McGaffee's right to present a defense when it prevented his expert from testifying that one of the actuarial risk instruments used by the State expert, the VRAG-Revised, lacks general acceptance in the scientific community and will likely fail future replication attempts? Should this Court also grant review where the court violated McGaffee's right to present a defense when the court refused to ask a juror's question regarding what instruments Dr. Abbott had used in assessing McGaffee's risk to reoffend?
- 4. A prosecuting attorney has the obligation to secure a fair and just verdict. This obligation includes a prohibition on making arguments that constitute burden shifting, reference facts not in evidence, or misstate the law. Should this Court grant review where the prosecutor shifted the burden to McGaffee, referenced evidence the State induced the trial court to exclude, and misstated the reasonable doubt standard? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

5. Should this Court grant review where the overall cumulative effect of these errors deprived McGaffee of a fair trial?

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Patrick McGaffee is in his late forties, but looks younger. RP434, 1212. He is only 5' 5" tall and has scoliosis (curvature of the spine) that gives him an unusual posture. RP700-01; RP1211-12. He wears hearing aids in both ears. RP1211-12.

McGaffee's IQ has been measured at 78, which represents the borderline range of cognitive abilities and is consistent with cognitive deficits. RP1213-18. As a child, he was placed in special education classes. RP440, 1213. When he was just nine years old, a teenager raped him. RP478-80.

Since he was twelve or thirteen, McGaffee knew he was gay, but he hid his homosexuality until he was about twenty-two years old. RP457. McGaffee has had consenting sexual relationships with other incarcerated adult males, but not since 2005. RP461-62.

In the SCC treatment program, McGaffee disclosed his sexual history, including his sexual offending against prepubescent boys. RP477, 710-15 (Exhibit 16). He pursued treatment and made these disclosures because he thought he needed to change and wanted to change. RP690-92. When interviewed about his index offense, McGaffee told the State's

evaluator he thought the sentence he received for his crime was fair and he understood that his fifteen-year-old victim was emotionally hurt. RP1343. He expressed a commitment not to reoffend. RP1343.

McGaffee understands a pedophile to be someone who is attracted to prepubescent children and he agrees this label applied to him. RP657. As the State's expert testified, pedophilia differs from a pedophilic disorder, which requires current distress or impairment. RP1228. Pedophilia appears to be a lifelong condition. RP1232. On the other hand, a pedophilic disorder may change over time with, or even without, treatment. RP1232-33. The DSM acknowledges that the propensity to act on an attraction to prepubescent children may abate over time. RP1233. The goal of treating a pedophile is to get them to manage their arousal so they do not act on it. RP1233.

McGaffee's treatment at the SCC included a sexual arousal modification program. RP764. As a result, he no longer has thoughts of inappropriate relationships with underage children. RP628-29, 659. He has not had a sexual fantasy involving a child for many years. RP727. His current preferred age range for a sexual partner would be from thirty years of age to about his own age. RP520. He is on Prozac to treat his depression and anxiety. RP655, 788. The medication he now takes has also reduced his arousal. RP655-56.

McGaffee stipulated to his commitment in 1998. RP770. At times during the first decade of his commitment, he violated facility rules.

McGaffee admitted that he was attracted to some fellow SCC residents and engaged in sex with them, up to the year 2005. RP457, 461-62, 579, 585-87, 618. He admitted that having sex with others at the SCC was against the rules. RP591.

Additionally, before 2007, McGaffee possessed at the SCC some movies and images that depicted children. RP463-64; 700; 1564.

However, while child pornography was discovered at the institution in this timeframe, McGaffee had clothed pictures of children, and there was no child pornography on his computer either the first or second time it was searched. RP1285-87.

According to McGaffee, he has not had sexual contact with another person since about 2006. RP1714-15. Even the State's evaluator agreed that there is no data in the records suggesting that McGaffee has had any sexual relationship or been sexually acting out since 2011. RP1299-1300. Even from the perspective of the State evaluator, there are no observed behaviors to demonstrate a pedophilic disorder since 2011. RP1303.

McGaffee considered seeking release in 2008, but held back because he wanted more outside support in place. RP776. He participated

in treatment for four more years up to 2012 but then stopped. RP654. He felt that he had gone as far as he could go in treatment, finishing the required assignments. RP787.

At trial, forensic psychologist Dr. Abbott opined that McGaffee does not meet commitment criteria. Dr. Abbott has extensive expertise in treatment and risk assessment of sex offenders. RP1518-31, 1594, 1629, 1735-36, 1738. He does not believe McGaffee currently suffers from a pedophilic disorder, even if he suffered from it in the past. RP1533, 1553, 1565, 1642, 1693. Dr. Abbott testified that McGaffee "has made substantial progress through the treatment that he's received at SCC" causing the pedophilic disorder to remit. RP1555.

Specifically, McGaffee "has matured significantly emotionally and socially compared to when he was living out in the community and during his early years at SCC." RP1555. Dr. Abbott noted that McGaffee was finally able to "come to terms with and accept his homosexuality." RP1555. He has "gone through quite a bit of sexual arousal modification treatment at the SCC… that helped him also reorient himself towards ageappropriate sexual partners." RP1556. The remission of the pedophilic disorder is linked in part to McGaffee realizing his offending caused real harm:

A third area that I think is important in terms of explaining the remission of his pedophilic disorder has been the empathy that he's developed for the victims. When he was committing his sexual offenses, he lacked empathy or the ability to understand that what he was doing was harming the victim.

RP1557.

Now, McGaffee knows that sexual interest in prepubescent children or adolescent males is wrong and harmful. RP1557. He has gained the ability to inhibit his arousal, which is "what we try to teach sex offenders in treatment who have the type of condition that Mr. McGaffee has." RP1560-62; 1649. Last, he has developed a comprehensive relapse prevention plan. RP1558. Dr. Abbott viewed McGaffee's decision to leave treatment in 2012 as "understandable under the circumstances" and it did not change his opinion of the influence that treatment had on McGaffee. RP1590.

Not only did Dr. Abbott opine that McGaffee lacks any qualifying mental disorder, he also opined that McGaffee's risk "falls below the [statutory] threshold of more likely than not." RP1595-97.

The trial court made a series of rulings, all adverse to McGaffee, each dealing with information related to risk of reoffense. First, the trial court denied a defense <u>Frye</u> motion to keep the State's evaluator from testifying about a novel psychometric measure, the SRA-FV. 10/21/14 RP4-7. Second, over objection, the trial court allowed the State's evaluator

to present relative risk ranking data comparing McGaffee to other sex offenders. RP 997-98, 1002-31. Third, the trial court barred Dr. Abbott from testifying that a newly revised actuarial risk instrument used by the State's expert was not generally accepted in the scientific community and would likely fail replication. RP1608, 1617. Fourth, over objection, the trial court refused to pose a jury question asking Dr. Abbott what instruments he – as compared to the State's expert – used in his risk assessment. RP1778-86.

Finally, in closing argument, the trial court overruled defense objections as to the State's comparison between how their expert and Dr. Abbott approached risk assessment in the case. RP1831-33; CP 492-519. Similarly, the trial court overruled defense objections to the prosecutor's use of a "vacuum" analogy to tell the jury that the absence of observed signs of a pedophilic disorder was evidence of its existence. RP1868-69.

The jury returned a verdict finding that McGaffee continues to meet RCW 71.09 commitment criteria and that is what the trial court ordered. CP 491; CP 1131. The Court of Appeals affirmed. Slip Op. at 20.

D. ARGUMENT IN FAVOR OF GRANTING REVIEW

1. The State's expert's use of the SRA-FV does not satisfy the <u>Frye</u> standard of scientific evidence admissibility.

To establish that an individual respondent meets the involuntary civil commitment criteria of RCW 71.09, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he or she is "more likely than not" to engage in a future predatory act of sexual violence unless confined to a secure facility. RCW 71.09.020(18). The "more likely than not" standard represents an absolute statistical probability exceeding 50%. State v. Brooks, 145 Wn.2d at 295.

In general, the State attempts to meet this burden by presenting actuarial risk assessment instruments that gauge whether certain static – unchangeable – risk factors apply. "The actuarial approach evaluates a limited set of predictors and then combines these variables using a predetermined, numerical weighting system to determine future risk of reoffense." Thorell 149 Wn.2d at 753.

The SRA-FV is supposed to assess personality traits (habitual patterns of behavior, thought, and emotion) that relate to risk of sexual offending but are unaccounted for in the Static-99R actuarial risk assessment instrument.

After McGaffee's trial concluded, Division III of the Court of Appeals ruled that the SRA-FV on the whole satisfies <u>Frye</u>. <u>In re Det. of Ritter</u>, 192 Wn.App. 493, 372 P.3d 122 (2016). A Division II opinion did the same, albeit in a case with a one-sided record. <u>In re Det. of Pettis</u>, 188 Wn.App. 198, 211, 352 P.3d 841 (2015).

The Court of Appeals relied on <u>Ritter</u> and <u>Pettis</u> to find the SRA-FV was admissible under <u>Frye</u> in McGaffee's case. Slip Op. at 5-6. However, the record in McGaffee's <u>Frye</u> hearing differs from that presented in the <u>Ritter</u> and <u>Pettis</u> matters, even if a similar legal question is at issue. In particular, the record at McGaffee's trial shows that using the SRA-FV to select a Static-99R normative group – as the State's expert chose to – is not generally accepted in the scientific community.

a. <u>Scientific evidence is inadmissible when it fails reliability</u> or lacks general acceptance

Under <u>Frye</u>, expert testimony is admissible where: (1) the scientific theory or principle upon which the evidence is based has gained general acceptance in the relevant scientific community of which it is a part; and (2) there are generally accepted methods of applying the theory or principle in a manner capable of producing reliable results. <u>Lake Chelan Shores Homeowners Ass'n v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.</u>, 176
Wn.App. 168, 175, 313 P.3d 408 (2013), <u>rev. denied</u>, 179 Wn.2d 1019

(2014) (quoting State v. Sipin, 130 Wn.App. 403, 414, 123 P.3d 862 (2005)).

"Both the theory underlying the evidence and the methodology used to implement the theory must be generally accepted in the scientific community for evidence to be admissible under Frye." Id. (emphasis added). The court does not decide the correctness of the proposed expert testimony, but "whether the theory has achieved general acceptance in the appropriate scientific community." Id. at 175-76 (quoting State v. Riker, 123 Wn.2d 351, 359-60, 869 P.2d 43 (1994)).

b. There is no valid basis for using the SRA-FV to select a
Static-99R reference group and this use of the instrument is
not generally accepted in the scientific community.

At McGaffee's trial, the parties presented significantly conflicting evidence regarding the validity, reliability, and general acceptance of the SRA-FV psychometric measure.² Dr. Amy Phenix testified for the State, while McGaffee called forensic psychologists Dr. Howard Barbaree and Dr. Brian Abbott.³

Dr. Abbott testified that the Static-99R was designed to mechanically order sex offenders by relative risk, not to explain why they

² The <u>Frye</u> hearings were held on 8/15/14, 9/2/14, 9/3/14am, 9/3/14pm, 9/4/14, and 10/2/14. The transcripts for these pretrial hearings were not consecutively paginated.

³ Dr. Abbott and Dr. Phenix were also experts in <u>Ritter</u>. Dr. Barbaree did not participate in either the Ritter or Pettis litigation.

might reoffend. 9/3/14pm 34-36. That instrument is "generally accepted as having some association with sexual recidivism." 9/3/14pm RP38-39. It has gained that acceptance after several cross-validations showing that it consistently sorted recidivists from non-recidivists. 9/3/14pm RP43. The instrument is focused on historical, unchangeable, risk factors.

However, "what's not generally accepted about the Static-99R is the way in which one selects the reference groups." 9/3/14pm RP39. The Static-99R authors have not endorsed the SRA-FV for this purpose. 9/4/14 RP123. Furthermore, there is evidence suggesting that the reference group concept overall just does not work. 9/3/14pm RP39-40. And, there is data showing the SRA-FV does not work in selecting a single Static-99R reference group. 10/2/14 RP43-44.

The State's expert, Dr. Phenix all but conceded that using the SRA-FV to select a Static-99R reference group is unfounded. Dr. Phenix admitted the Static-99R manual <u>does not</u> instruct a user of the instrument to rely on the SRA-FV to select a Static-99R reference group; this is only a suggestion of its inventor. 8/15/14 RP45-47, 55, 69-70. Dr. Phenix ostensibly believes that peer-review is an important first step toward the scientific community evaluating an idea. 8/15/14 RP107. Yet, she conceded no peer-reviewed professional journal article advocates for

turning to the SRA-FV to select a Static-99R reference group. 8/15/14 RP70, 78.

Like Dr. Abbott, Dr. Barbaree refuted the claim that Dr.

Goldberg's decision to rely on SRA-FV scoring to select a Static-99R reference group was a "generally accepted" scientific method. Dr.

Barbaree called that use of the instrument "speculative at this stage."

9/2/14 RP130-31. It is nothing more than an un-validated "hypothesis."

9/2/14 RP132-33. Because Dr. Abbott's publication has shown that this approach can be wrong, Dr. Barbaree testified: "you shouldn't rely on the SRA-FV [to select a Static-99R reference group.]" 9/2/14 RP134-35;

9/3/14 RP9-10.

Dr. Phenix testified that when a risk prediction instrument is developed, it may initially "work pretty well" on the sample it was developed on, but attempts to cross-validate the instrument "on a wholly different group of individuals" often fail, and there is "shrinkage or a lowering of the predictive accuracy." 8/15/14 RP21-22. There has to be cross-validation. 8/15/14 RP22.

Cross-validation is done to find out if the instrument works with samples of offenders other than the sample upon which it was initially validated, but this has not been done with the SRA-FV. 8/15/15 RP71-75; 9/4/14 RP51; 10/2/14 RP42. Dr. Phenix admitted "research still needs to

be done to validate this – cross-validate this instrument on other types of sex offenders, particularly since it was cross-validated on the same sample, in a split sample." 8/15/14 RP49.⁴ The unique make-up of the SRA-FV developmental sample suggests reason for concern. Dr. Phenix admitted the SRA-FV was developed on a dated population of sexual psychopaths, the so-called Bridgewater sample. 8/15/14 RP24. That group has been criticized as unusual and may be different from contemporary populations of sex offenders. 8/15/14 RP26, 73.

The trial court record shows this use of the instrument was based on a suggestion made at a conference training presentation and not in any sort of peer-reviewed scientific journal. To label this untested use of a hypothesis as somehow having general acceptance in the scientific community is to turn a blind eye to the <u>Frye</u> standard. This Court should grant review.

2. The trial court wrongfully allowed the State to bolster claims about McGaffee's risk with prejudicial and confusing relative risk ranking data.

Dr. Goldberg assigned a relative percentile rank of 97% to McGaffee, even though his absolute risk of reoffense was estimated to be only about 43% in ten years. RP1027. Taken at face value, the absolute

⁴ In contrast, the Static-99R actuarial risk assessment instrument has been subject to some 65 validations. 8/15/14 RP18, 20-21.

risk estimate indicates that McGaffee's likelihood of committing a sexual offense falls below the statutory threshold. On the other hand, the relative risk ranking suggests he is more dangerous than nearly all other sex offenders. McGaffee moved to exclude mention of relative risk rankings but the trial court denied this motion. RP997-98, 1031.

At the trial, Dr. Goldberg acknowledged the relative risk ranking was confusing and irrelevant to the absolute risk question. RP1507 (emphasis added). The trial court was wrong to permit Dr. Goldberg to offer testimony on this issue. ER 401, 403; Carson v. Fine, 123 Wn.2d 206, 223, 867 P.2d 610 (1994); Lockwood v. AC & S. Inc., 109 Wn.2d 235, 257, 744 P.2d 605 (1987); State v. Cameron, 100 Wn.2d 520, 529, 674 P.2d 650 (1983). This Court should accept review.

3. The trial court violated McGaffee's right to present a defense when it set arbitrary limits on how he could criticize the VRAG-revised actuarial risk assessment instrument and when it refused to ask a jury question about Dr. Abbott's risk assessment.

The right to present witnesses in one's own defense is an essential trial right: "[f]ew rights are more fundamental than that of an accused to present witnesses in his own defense." Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 302, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973); State v. Franklin, 180 Wn.2d 371, 378, 325 P.3d 159 (2014); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I §§ 3, 22.

Dr. Abbott held the opinion that Dr. Goldberg's use of the VRAG-R was inappropriate, in part, because it had not been cross-validated on other populations. RP1608-1611, 1615, 1617. The trial court improperly barred Dr. Abbott from testifying to his opinion that using the VRAG-R was generally inappropriate in a forensic evaluation, thereby preventing McGaffee from refuting the approach taken by the State's forensic psychologist, the main witness against him. RP1608. This violated his constitutional right to present a defense.

In addition, the trial court infringed on McGaffee's right to present a defense when it refused to let Dr. Abbott answer a jury question as to his risk assessment methodology. CR 43(k); see <u>United States v. Sutton</u>, 970 F.2d 1001, 1005 n.3 (1st Cir. 1992). This Court should grant review.

4. The prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument.

An accused is guaranteed the right to a fair trial by an impartial jury. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. 1, §§ 3, 21, 22; State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). Because the defendant is among the people the prosecutor represents, the prosecutor "owes a duty to defendants to see that their rights to a constitutionally fair trial are not violated." Id. See also State v. Huson, 73 Wn.2d 660, 663, 440 P.2d 192 (1968), cert. denied, 393 U.S. 1096 (1969); State v. Boehning, 127 Wn.App. 511, 518, 111 P.3d 899 (2005).

a. The prosecutor's argument about the difference between Dr. Goldberg and Dr. Abbott's risk assessment methodologies was misconduct.

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