FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/12/2017 2:49 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 94995-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN RE THE DETENTION OF PATRICK MCGAFFEE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JOSHUA STUDOR Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 47183, OID No. 91094 Office of the Attorney General Criminal Justice Division 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 442-4484

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

At trial, Dr. Goldberg testified that percentile-ranking data is helpful in considering how rare an offender's particular score is, that the data provides a baseline for the expert to begin a risk analysis, and that it provides specificity regarding the person's level of risk. RP 06/17/15 at 1002-03, 1017. Dr. Goldberg testified that other forensic psychologists in his field rely upon the percentile ranking and that its use is "a standard practice." RP 06/17/15 at 1023. Based on the testimony and argument, the trial court found the evidence was relevant and admissible, and would be helpful to the jury. RP 06/17/15 at 1031. On review, the Court of Appeals agreed that percentile ranking was "certainly relevant" and its probative value was not outweighed by risk of unfair prejudice or confusion of the issues. Slip Op. at 8-9. In so finding, the Court of Appeals properly determined the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing testimony about the percentile-ranking data. *Id.*

McGaffee fails to make any argument regarding RAP 13.4(b) regarding the percentile ranking data and does not present this court with anything new to consider. His arguments were rejected by the trial court and by the Court of Appeals. McGaffee does not claim that the Court of Appeals' decision on percentile rank conflicts with another published opinion; nor could he because

there are not any. The issue raised by McGaffee is merely an evidentiary one based in the Rules of Evidence and is not constitutional in nature. Review of this issue should be denied.

C. McGaffee was Not Prevented from Presenting His Defense and Does Not Present a Basis for Review of That Issue.

1. McGaffee's Expert Testified Extensively About His Opinion Regarding a Particular Instrument.

In his petition to this Court and below, McGaffee claims that the trial court improperly prevented his expert, Dr. Abbott, from providing his opinion about the Violence Risk Appraisal Guide – Revised (VRAG-R). *Id.* He thus argues that the court's limitation on his expert's testimony arises to constitutional error. Pet. for Review at 16. However, the Court of Appeals correctly determined the record does not support his claim that Dr. Abbott's testimony was limited in any meaningful way. Slip Op. at 5.

In forming his opinion, Dr. Goldberg, considered the VRAG-R, which is a forensic tool for estimating risk based on static factors. RP 06/17/15 at 1052. Dr. Abbott, however, held the view that the instrument was not appropriate for forensic use. RP 06/23/15 at 1611. Following the State's objection during Dr. Abbott's testimony, the court ruled he could testify as to why he did not use the instrument but not why he thought the instrument should not be used in general application. RP 06/23/15 at 1608. It also prevented Dr. Abbott from testifying about the speculative outcome of research "because you can't predict into the future." RP 06/23/15 at 1617.

Despite the court's ruling, Dr. Abbott offered extensive testimony about what he perceived to be the different flaws related to the VRAG-R. RP 06/23/15 at 1610-19. For instance, Dr. Abbott testified "It's not ready for forensic use based on its limitation."¹ He testified the instrument should not be used because the sample population used to normalize the instrument was not like McGaffee,² and that the results from the instrument have not been reproduced or cross-validated using other populations.³ Thus he had "no confidence the results from that sample would apply to any other group of its time." *Id.* Regardless of the trial court's ruling, Dr. Abbott explained precisely why he thought these limitations made the test unreliable in a forensic setting. *Id.*

The only criticism Dr. Abbott could not share with the jury was his expectation regarding the outcome of future research on the VRAG-R. 6/23/15 VRP at 1616-17. The Court of Appeals correctly upheld this ruling, finding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in limiting this speculative testimony. Slip Op. at 5. Nonetheless, Dr. Abbott's testimony was rife with predictive statements about the replication of the VRAG-R study. For instance, Dr. Abbott was allowed to offer the possibility that, "the results of the original research [might] diminish or decline." RP 06/23/15 at 1618. Additionally, Dr.

- ¹ RP 06/23/15 at 1611.
- ² RP 06/23/15 at 1614.
- ³ RP 06/23/15 at 1615.

Abbott testified that "[W]e don't know if the risk estimates that they found in the VRAG sample will reproduce in any other group." RP 06/23/15 at 1612. Even though the court properly prohibited speculative testimony about the future of the VRAG-R, Dr. Abbott was still able to provide complete testimony about his prediction.

McGaffee presents this Court with no basis to review the Court of Appeals' decision. Because his claim is factually inaccurate, the issues he presents do not involve significant questions of constitutional law or conflict with other decisions. Review should be denied.

2. The Court of Appeals Correctly Reviewed the Trial Court's Decision to Not Ask a Juror's Question.

McGaffee also seeks review of the Court of Appeals' finding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it refused to ask a particular juror question. Pet. for Review at 16. Not only does he fail to present this Court with any basis for review, he also fails to explain how the judge's decision not to ask a question prevented him from asking that same question.

McGaffee cites note 3 of U.S. v. Sutton, 970 F.2d 1001, 1005 (1st Cir. 1992) in support of his claim of error. Pet. for Review at 16. But Sutton does not support his position and does not represent a conflict with existing case law. Rather, the Court of Appeals' decision here adheres to Sutton: "we hold that allowing juror-inspired questions in a criminal case is not prejudicial per se, but is a matter committed to the sound discretion of the trial court." *Id.* at

1005. Note 3 of the *Sutton* opinion recognizes that a juror's question could alert "the attorneys to points that bear further elaboration." *Id.* Similarly, McGaffee here could have asked Dr. Abbott for the basis of his risk assessment opinion during direct examination or recalled him to testify about the subject following the jury question.

The trial court's decision not to ask a juror question is ultimately irrelevant to whether McGaffee was permitted to present a defense. As the Court of Appeals observed, McGaffee did not present the defense because he "chose not to ask Dr. Abbott about, or have Dr. Abbott discuss, the assessment he had used." Slip Op. at 13. The trial court's decision to not ask the jury question was entirely within its discretion and did not affect McGaffee's right to present his defense.

D. The Court of Appeals' Decision Correctly Found McGaffee's Trial Free from Prosecutorial Misconduct.

As with McGaffee's other issues, he fails to present this Court with any argument regarding how the RAP 13.4(b) factors applies to his prosecutorial misconduct claims. Consequently, this Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals' decision. The Court of Appeals applied the correct standards on review, the constitutional issues related to potential misconduct are wellestablished and not implicated here, and a decision on an idiosyncratic closing in a sexually violent predator case is not an issue of substantial public interest. In a sexually violent predator commitment case, the State bears the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. RCW 71.09.060, .09.090. Certainly, it would be improper for a prosecutor to comment on the respondent's failure to present evidence because he has no duty to do so. *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 453, 258 P.3d 43 (2011) (citing *State v. Cheatam*, 150 Wn.2d 626, 652, 81 P.3d 830 (2003); *State v. Cleveland*, 58 Wn. App. 634, 647, 794 P.2d 546 (1990)). However, "a prosecutor has wide latitude to argue reasonable inferences from the evidence." *Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d at 453.

A prosecutor's statements during closing argument should be reviewed in context with the rest of the argument. Slip Op. at 14 (*citing State v. Magers*, 164 Wn.2d 174, 191-92, 189 P.3d 126 (2008)). On review, the court must also consider whether the opponent of the statement objected timely. *Id.* When the appellant alleges prosecutorial misconduct for the first time on appeal, he must establish the alleged "misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it caused an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." *State v. Hecht*, 179 Wn. App. 497, 503, 319 P.3d 836 (2014). Absent a showing of "flagrant and ill-intentioned" misconduct reviewing courts reject the claimed misconduct.

McGaffee challenges four statements. Pet. for Review at 17-19. Recognizing that McGaffee only timely objected to one of the four, the Court

of Appeals properly reviewed three under the "enduring and resulting prejudice" and found no misconduct.

1. The Court of Appeals Found the State Did Not Shift the Burden

A prosecutor generally cannot comment on the defendant's failure to present evidence because the defendant has no duty to present evidence. *Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d at 453. However, a prosecutor's argument about the quality or amount of evidence does not necessarily shift the burden. *Id.* at 466-467; *see also State v. Jackson*, 150 Wn. App. 877, 885-86, 209 P.3d 553 (2009).

Here, the Court of Appeals followed existing case law and found it did not apply because the State did not comment on the amount and quality of the evidence when it criticized the defense's expert's opinion. Slip Op. at 18. The State's comments went to the credibility of Dr. Abbott's opinion that McGaffee was not likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined to a secure facility. The Court of Appeals properly found:

"The State clearly explained to the jury that the State had the burden of proof. The State also explained that the jury was the sole judge of credibility and outlined numerous reasons why it should find the State's witness more credible than McGaffee's witness."

Slip Op. at 18.

As the Court of Appeals determined, the State's arguments did not shift the burden; it simply asked the jury to consider the veracity of the two expert's testimony about risk. 6/24/15 VRP at 1833-34. Moreover, the State repeatedly reminded the jury that it had the burden and that the burden was beyond a reasonable doubt. 6/24/15 VRP at 1818, 1819, 1832. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any law, the issue does not involve a constitutional question of law, and there is nothing of significant public interest involved in the State's comments. This Court should deny review.

2. The State's Analogy Did Not Trivialize the Standard of Proof.

McGaffee argues review should be accepted because the State's "soup" analogy trivialized the beyond a reasonable doubt standard. Pet. for Review at 18. The Court of Appeals correctly determined the State's analogy was not misconduct. Slip Op. at 17. While he is correct that the State may not trivialize its burden, McGaffee's argument ultimately fails because the analogy had nothing to do with the standard of proof. The State argued that a *risk assessment* is like a soup because a risk assessment – like soup – is only complete when all of the ingredients are included. 6/24/15 VRP at 1832-33. McGaffee's argument simply mischaracterizes the analogy.

3. The State Did Not Call on the Jury to Judge the Case Based on Subjective Beliefs.

Though McGaffee did not object at trial, he now claims the State committed misconduct when it told the jury, "That means *that based on the evidence*, you believe there's at least 50 percent plus something that he will reoffend..." Pet. for Review at 18 (emphasis added). He argues this statement was improper because it called on the jury to find for the State based on subjective beliefs. *Id.* However, the Court of Appeals properly noted that the State's statement called for the jury to base its decision on the evidence and was not misconduct. Slip Op. at 14-15. Additionally, McGaffee does not argue the RAP 13.4(b) factors and presents nothing new to this Court to warrant review.

4. The State Did Not Ask the Jury to Find In Its Favor Based on a Lack of Evidence.

Without argument and without providing any context to the State's "vacuum" analogy, McGaffee argues the State committed misconduct by misstating the law. Pet. for Review at 19. The Court of Appeals found no misconduct. Slip Op. at 15-16. As the Court of Appeals recognized, the State did not argue there was a lack of evidence. Rather, it argued that a vacuum – like a mental abnormality – is not something that can be observed directly. 6/24/15 VRP at 1868-69. Instead, the phenomenon must be observed by looking at the circumstantial evidence surrounding it. Slip Opinion at 15. The State actually asked the jury to "look at the evidence [] to determine whether the condition still exists." *Id.* There is no basis for review of the Court of Appeals' decision regarding McGaffee's claims of prosecutorial misconduct and his petition should be denied.

E. None of the Issues Raised in McGaffee's Petition are of Substantial Public Interest Because They Have No Effect Outside the Context of His Case. Though McGaffee presents this Court with no argument as to why review is proper, he cites to the RAP 13.4(b)(4) in his issue statements. Pet. for Review at 1. Under that factor, review is appropriate if the Court of Appeals' decision involves an "issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). An "issue of substantial public interest" is one that has the potential to affect parties not involved in the litigation. *See generally State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). Even if McGafee had presented proper argument, the issues he presents fail to meet the standard.

The majority of the issues presented by McGaffee relate to expert testimony grounded in well-founded, existing law. Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly followed precedent and applied the correct standard related to the SRA-FV and the percentile ranking issues. There is little public interest in rehashing these well-settled principles. McGaffee's arguments regarding his right to present a defense and prosecutorial misconduct are not supported by the record so even if the issues were of public interest, the facts are not as McGaffee claims.

Additionally, McGaffee's challenges to the trial court's discretionary evidentiary rulings fail to meet the "substantial public interest" test because the standards and application of the rules of evidence are well established and there is nothing unique about the trial court's rulings. The rulings involved simple application of law to facts to determine relevancy, ER 403 balancing, and the admissibility of facts and data relied upon by an expert testifying about his opinion. Nothing about the evidentiary rulings warrant review by this court.

More generally, there is no issue of "substantial public interest" because the Court of Appeals' decision is unpublished and, consequently, holds no precedential weight beyond McGaffee's specific circumstance. GR 14.1. McGaffee's petition fails to meet the standard addressed in RAP 13.4(b)(4) or any other part of the rule. Consequently, this Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals' decision.

V. CONCLUSION

McGaffee's petition fails to present a basis for review of the Court of Appeals' decision on any of the four issues he presents. None of the issues present significant questions of constitutional law or are of substantial public interest. The only relevant cases concur with the court's decision. This Court should deny review.